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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA.
TAMPADIVISION
TODD K. WHITAKER, on behalf of
himself-and on behalf of all others.
similarly situated,
Plaintiff,
¥e. Case No. :

BVM THE BRIDGES, LLC,

Defendant.
¥

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff, TODD M. WHITAKER, on behalf of himself and the Putative Class set forth
below, files the following Class Action Complaint against BVM THE BRIDGES, LLC

(“Defendant™), pursuant to the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA™).

1. Defendant BVM THE BRIDGES, LLC is a Florida corporation that specializes
i assisted living communities; |

2. Defendant routinely obtains and uses information in consumer Teports to
conduet background checks on prospective employees and existing employees, and frequently
relies on such-information as a basis for adverse employment action, In this case, Defendant
‘used a national consumer teporting agency to procure consumer reports on Plainfiff and the.
‘putative class members he seeks fo represent.

3. The FCRA, 15 US.C. §1681b makes it presumptively unlawful fo obtain and

use a “consumer report” for an employment purpose. Such use becomes lawful if and only if
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the “user” ~ in this case BVM - complied with the statute’s strict disclosure and anthorization
requirements. 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)2) and (3).

4, Defendant willfully violated these requirements in multiple ways and in
systematic violation of Plaintiff's rights, and as to the rights of the other putative class
members,

3 Defendant also violated the FCRA®s requirement that, prior to procuring a
consumer report for employment purposes, a prospective emplover must disclose that it is
going to procure a consumer report “in a document consisting solely of the disclosure.” This
conduct violates 15 U.S.C. §1681b(b)(2)(A)(i). The standard forms utilized by Defendant fail
to comply with this long-standing statutory requirement.

6. Defendant’s practices in violation the FCRA were repeated and systematic and,

thus, the claims at issue in this Amended Complaint are ripe for class treatment,

7, This Court has federal question jurisdiction over Plaintiff's FCRA claims
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, The Court has also jurisdiction under the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. §§
1681n and 1681p,

8. Venue is proper in the United States District Court, Middle District of Florida,
pursuant to 28 1T1.5.C, § 1391,

FARTIES

9. Plaintiff is a citizen of Florida and former employee of Defendant. He is a

natural person and is a consumer as defined by the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681 er seq., at

§1681a(c).

]
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10.  Defendant is a corporation and a user of consumer reports as contemplated by

the FCRA, at 15 U.S.C. § 1681b,

i)efemfam’ Wff!fu! .waafmn af 1 5 £f 5. C .6 i 63} b(b)(}?}

1. Defendant willfully violated 15 US.C. § 1681b(b)2). Specificatly, Defendant
is liable for willfully or negligently violating Section 1681b{b)2) of the FCRA by procuring
or causing to be procured a consumer report for employment purposes without first providing
a clear and conspicuous disclosure in writing to the consumer in a document that consists solely
of the disclosure that a consumer report may be obtained for employment purposes.

12.  Asexplained above, Plaintiff initially applied 1o work for Defendant as a Chef
in May of 2015, When he first applied Plaintiff received Defendant’s paper Job Application,
as do all job applicants, which is attached as Exhibit A. It specifically informs applicants that
“[i]n compliance with the Amended Fair Credit Reporting Act and applicable state law, this
notice is to inform you that a consumer report may be obtained in connection with vour
application for employment or your current employment.™

130 The document is not a stand-alone FCRA disclosure document. [t contains at
least the following extraneous items of information: |

aj A Hability release;
b} A certification that all statements made in the application are

true and accurate;

¢} Spaces for identification information about the application;
d} Spaces for availability of the applicant for work assignments;
e} Spaces for educational information about the applicant;

Tad
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1} Spaces for recent employrment history of the applicant:
&) A box asking whether an applicant is available to work overtime:
h) A question regarding an applicant’s employment eligibility-to-

work stajus;

i) Questions regarding special training and skills;

i} Certifications by the applicant of the accuracy of the information
provided; and

k) Acknowledgement of at-will employment status.

14, Defendant’s Job Application does not constitute a document consisting solely
of a disclosure that a background check will be procured for employment purposes. Because
this was the only form Defendant provided to Plaintiff prior to procuring a report on him which
related in any way to consumer reports, Defendant violated 15 11.8.C, § 1681b{(M{2UAXD.

15, Defendant’s conduct was knowing and reckless.

16.  Defendant knowingly and recklessly disregarded the plain meaning of 15
US.C. § 1681b(b}2YA), as well as guidance from the Federal Trade Commission and
numerous court decisions stating that the inclusion of extraneous information in the disclosure
required under § 1681b(b)}2)A) is a violation of the FCRA.

i17. Defendant knew that it had an obligation to provide a stand-alone disclosure
before procuring a consumer report, but chose to place its own interests ahead of the vights of
CONSLINCTs,

18, Defendant did not procure Plaintiff’s report in connection with any

mvestigation of suspected misconduct refating to employment, or compliance with federal,
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state, or local laws and regulations, the rules of a self-regulatory organization, or any
preexisting written policies of the emplover.

19, Defendant repeatedly used the same Job Application to procure background
reports on numerous other applicants and employees.

20, By systematically inserting extrancous information into Plaintiff's and other
current or prospective employees” disclosures, Defendant knowingly and wilifully violated 15
LL5.CL§ 1681b(M2X AN

21, Plaintiff and the putative class experienced a concrete injury from Defendant’s
failure to provide the statutorily-required stand-alone disclosure in at least two ways. First,
Defendant invaded Plaimtiff™s right to privacy, Under the FCRA, “a person may not procure a
consumer report, Or cause a consumer report to be procured, for employment purposes with
respect to any consumer, unless” it complies with the statutory requirements (i.e., disclosure
and authorization} set forth in the following subsections: 15 U.S.C. § 1681h{h)2). As one
court put it. “{tthe FCRA makes it unlawful 1o *procure” a report without first providing the
proper disclosure and receiving the consumer’s written authorization.” Hurris v. Home Depot
LS. Inc., 114 F. Supp. 3d 868, 869 (N.D, Cal. 2015). Plaimiff's report cortained a wealth
of private information which Defendant had no right to access absent a specific Congressional
license to do so. The report included, infer alia, Plaintiff's date of hirth, address history, social
security number, and information about his criminal background. By procuring a report
containing this private information without complying with these requirements. Defendant

ilegaily invaded Plaintiff's privacy.
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22.  Second, Plaintiff has suffered a concreie informational injury because
Defendant failed to provide Plaintiff with information to which he was entitled by statute.
Pursuant to § 1681b(b}(2), Plaintiff was entitled to receive certain information at a specific
time, namely a disclosure that a consumer report may be procured for employment purposes
in a document consisting solely of the disclosure. Such disclosure was required to be provided
to Plaintiff before the consumer report was 1o be procured. By depriving Plaintiff of this
information, Defendant injured him and the putative class members. Public Citizen v. U.S,
Department of Justice, 491 U.S. 440, 449 (1989 Federal Election Commission v, Aking, 524
LB 11 (1998),

23, Based on the foregoing violations, Plaintiff asserts FCRA claims against
Defendant on behalf’ of himself and a class of Defendant’s employees, and prospective
employees,

24, On behalf of himself and the Putative Class, Plaintiff seeks statutory damages,

punitive damages, costs and attorneys’ fees, equitable relicf, and other appropriate relief

pursuant 1o the FCRA.

25, Plaintiff asserts his claims in Counts 1 and 2 on behalf of a Putative Background
Check Class defined as follows:

improper Disclosure and Authorization Class: All BVM employees and job
applicants who applied for or worked in a position at BVM in the United States
and who were the subject of a consumer report that was procured by BVYM
within two years of the filing of this complaint through the date of final
judgment and as to whom BVM used the disclosure and authorization forms
substantially similar to those attached as Exhibit A.
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26, Numerosity: The Putative Class is so numerous that joinder of all Class
members is impracticable. Defendant regularly obtains and uses information in consumer
reports to conduct background checks on prospective employees and existing emplovees.
Plaintiff is informed and believes that during the relevant time period, thousands of
Defendant’s employees and prospective employees satisfy the definition of the Putative Class.

27.  Typicality: Plaintiff”s claims are typical of the members of the Putative Class.
Defendant typically uses consumer reports to conduct background checks on emplovees and
prospective employees. The FCRA violations suffered by Plaintiff are typical of those suffered
by other Putative Class members, and Defendant treated Plaintiff consistent with other Putative
Class members in accordance with its standard policies and practices.

28, Adequacy: Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the
Putative Class, and has retained counsel experienced in complex class action litigation.

29, Commonality: Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of
the Putative Class and predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of
the Putative Class, including but not limited to:

a) Whether the specific Defendant’s background check practices
and/for procedures alleged in this case comply with the FCRA;

b) Whether Defendants standard FCRA disclosures complied with 15
UB.LC §1681b(b)2);

c} Whether Defendant’s vielations of the FCRA were willful;

d} The proper form of injunctive and declaratory relief.
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30.  This case is maintainable as a class action because prosecution of actions by or
against individual members of the Putative Class would result in inconsistent or varying
adjudications and create the risk of incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants. Farther,
adjudication of each individual Class member’s claim as separate action would potentially be
dispositive of the interest of other individuals not a party to such action, impeding their ability
10 protect their interests.

31, This case is maininable as a class action because Defendant has acted or
refused to act on grounds that apply generally to the Putative Class, so that final injunctive
relief or corresponding declaratory relief is appropriate respecting the Class as a whole.

32, Class certification is also appropriate because questions of law and fact
common to the Putative Class predominate over any questions affecting only individual
members of the Putative Class, and because a class action is superior to other available methods
for the fair and efficient adjudication of this litigation. Defendant’s conduct described in this
Complaint stems from common and uniform policies and practices, resulting in common
violations of the FCRA. Members of the Putative Class do not have an interest in pursuing
separate actions against Defendant, as the amount of each Class member's individual claims is
small compared to the expense and burden of individual prosecution. Class certification also
will obviate the need for unduly duplicative fitigation that might result in inconsistent
Judgments concerning Defendant’s practices, Moreover, management of this action as a class
action will not present any likely difficulties. In the interests of justice and judicial efficiency,

it would be desirable to concentrate the litigation of all Putative Class members® claims in a

single forum.
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33, Plaintiff intends to send notice to all members of the Putative Class to the extent
required by Rule 23, The names and addresses of the Putative Class members are available
from Defendant’s records.

T

Failure to Make 'l.’mper-l)isclosure in Viglation of FCRA
153 U.8.C, § 1681 (Y2} AMD

)

34, Plaintiff alleges and incorpora:'tes by reference the allegations in the preceding
paragraphs,

35, Defendant used the consumer reports of the Plaintiff and each member of the
Background Check Class without first providing the disclosures necessary to satisfy 15 U.S.C.
§ 1681h{b)(2)AXI).

36.  Defendant violated the FCRA by procuring consumer reports relating to
Plaintitf and other Background Check Class members without first making proper disclosures
in the format required by 15 1U.8.C. § 1681b(h)(2)(A)(i). Namely, in a stand-alone document.

37.  The foregoing violations were willful. Defendant knew it was required to
provide a stand-alone form (separate from the employment application) prior to obtaining and
then utilizing a consumer report on the Background Check Class members, By failing 1o do
so Defendant acted in deliberate or reckless disregard of its obligations and the rights of
Plaintiff and other Background Check Class members under 15 U.S.C. § 168IB(b A1)
Defendant knew or should have known about its legal obligations under the FCRA. These
obligations are well established in the plain language of the FCRA and in the promulgations
of the Federal Trade Commission. Defendant obtained or had available substantial written

materials which apprised it of its dities under the FCRA. Any reasonable employer knows
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about or can easily discover these mandates.

38, Defendant’s willful conduct is alse reflected by, among other things, the
following facts: Defendant is a large corporation with aceess to legal advice through its own
general counsel’s office and outside emplovment counsel, and there is no contemporancous
evidence that it determined that its conduct was lawful: Defendant knew or had reason 1o know
that its conduct was inconsistent with published FTC guidance interpreting the FCRA, case
law, and the plain language of the statute; and, finally, Defendant voluntarily ran a risk of
violating the law substantially greater than the risk associated with a reading that was merely
careless.

39, Plaintiff and the Background Check Class are entitled to statutory damages of
not less than $100 and not more than $1,000 for each and every one of these violations,
pursuant to 15 US.C. § 168In(a)(1)(A), plus punitive damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
§168In(a)(2).

40.  Plaintiff and the Background Check Class are further entitled to recover their
costs and attorneys” fees, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 168In(a)3).

e ' N 7

Failure to Ght;'in Proper Aﬁthurizatiﬂn i:li Viﬁlatitm of FCRA
13 U.S.C. § 1681b(bX2XAXi)
41, Plainiiff alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in the preceding
paragraphs.
42.  Defendant violated the FCRA by procuring and using consumer reports relating
to Plaintiff and other Background Check Class members without proper authorization, See 13

U.S.C. § 1681b{bY( 2 A,

i
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43, The foregoing violations were willful, Defendant acted in deliberate or reckiess
disregard of its obligations and the rights of Plaintiff and other Background Check Class
members under 13 U.S.C. § 1681b(bY2)AXii). Defendant knew or should have known about
its legal obligations under the FCRA. These obligations are well established in the plain
language of the FCRA and in the promulgations of the Federal Trade Commission. Defendant
obtained or had available substantial written materials, which apprised it of its duties under the
FCRA. Any reasonable employer knows about or can easily discover these mandates.

44, Defendant’s wiilful conduct is also reflected by, among other things. the
following facts: Defendant is a large corporation with access to legal advice through is own
general counsel’s office and outside employment counsel, and there is no CONLRMPOraneous
evidence that it determined that its conduct was lawful; Defendant knew or had reason to know
that its conduct was inconsistent with published FTC guidance interpreting the FCRA, case
law, and the plain language of the statute; and, finally, Defendant voluntarily ran a risk of
violating the law substantially greater than the risk associated with a reading that was merely
carcless.

45, Plaintiff and the Background Check Class are entitled to statutory damages of
not fess than $100 and not more than $1.000 for each and every one of these violations,
parsuant to 15 US.C. § 168Ina)(1)}{A), plus punitive damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
§168In{a)2).

46, Plaintiff and the Background Check Class are further entitled to recover their

costs and attorneys” fees, pursuant to 15 11.8,C. § 168 1n{a)(3),

11
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47, WHEIREF ORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the Putative Class, prays for
relief as follows:
a Determining that this action may proceed as a class action under
Rule 23(b)(1), and (2) and (3} of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure;
b) Designating Plaintiff as class representative and designating

Plaintiff's counsel as counsel for the Putative Class;

c) Issuing proper notice to the Putative Class at Defendant’s
expense;
d) Declaring that Defendant commitied multiple, separate

violations of the FCRA:

e) Declaring that Defendant acted willfully in deliberate or reckless
disregard of Plaintiff's rights and its obligations under the
FCRA;

£ Awarding statutory damages as provided by the FCRA,
including punitive damages;

#) Awarding reasonable attorneys” fees and costs as provided by
the FCRA; and

hjy Grranting other and further relief, in law or equity, as this Court

may deem appropriate and just.
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48.  Plaintiff and the Putative Class demand a trial by jury.
DATED this 73’"?;1&} of March, 2017,

Rt,‘;pet,tfuliv submltted

LUIS A. CABASSA
Florida Bar Number: (53643
Direct No.: 813-379-2565
CHRISTOPHER J. SABA
Florida Bar Number: 092016
Direct No.: 813-321-4086
WENZEL FENTON CABASSA, P.A.
1110 North Florida Ave., Suite 300
Tampa, Florida 33602

Main No.: §13-224-0431
Facsimile: 813-229-8712

Emalil: lcabassa@wiclaw.com
Email: bhilli@wiclaw.com

Email: twells@@wiclaw.com

Email: tsoriano@wiclaw.com
Attorneys for Plaintiff
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EXHIBIT A
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EMPLOY ENT APPLICATION Rl om 2.0 (1)

EOE/AA — DRUG FREE WORKPLACE
Date: gw /\ - 3—‘) tj— |
whituker - Todd | kenneth

Last Name . First Middle
Presen! !!!ress Street City/State Home Phone#
!I Cell Phone# Fax Number#

Email Address

v Position Applying For CheP

ﬂFuIl-time [I Parttime [ On-Call -work as needed (check all that apply)

Shifts: I1st 2od  3vd  Any shift you cannot work? o

" QOnly US cﬂ;xzens or aliens who have a legal right to work in the US are eligible for employment.” Can you,
on employment submit documentatlon verifying your legal right fo work in the US and your identity?

ﬁes O No

®  Are you willing to submit to a Crimi'nal Background chepk? i ‘ EY‘*S - O No
= Ave you willing to submit to a Post-Offer Pre-Employment drug test? . ﬂYes ONo

Have you ever been convicted of a felony or have you had adjudication withheld? Il Yes /¢’N 0

Ifyes, give dates and explain

v Have you ever been sanctioned or disciplined by any federal or state government agency, mcluchng but not
limited to.the Office of the Inspector General, Medicare, Medicaid, Depaltment of Health or any state

licensing boards? L1 Yes . X No
If yes, please explain

*  Are you able to perforra the egsential functions of the position in which you are app]ymg, with or without
reasonable accommodatlon‘? Yes [ONo

If no, please explain

= Do you have the use of a eljsoné]l insured automobile, if required for the position? )kf Yes HNo

* Do you have a yalid US dviver’s licensg, if required for the position you arve applying? /ﬁ Yes DO No

‘ " Ave you fluent in. another language other than English? If so, which '7 (}
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i
"

EDUCATION
- . Number of
. Print Naime, Phone Number and
School ! Years Degree Course of Study
. Address for each School Completed ‘
High School | Boort High school Y Yyés
College Lylin bry ﬂﬁ'évg‘r o= B (j t_j

Al T

Graduate School

Certification/License

SPECIATL SKILLS list any job-related gkills or qualifications that support your application

v In order to permit a check of :}our work and educational gecords, should we be aware of any change of name
or assumed name that you previously nsed? O Yes No

If yes, identify names and relevant dates

LIST ALL PREVIOUS EMPLOYERS (mbst recent job first), Account for all time periods including
unemployment, self-employment and military service. Please attach additional sheet if needed.

WORK EXPERIENCE
Current Employer Immediate Supervisor Job Title

See Reving

Address

Phone Number

Dates Employed Hourly Rate/Salary
From To Starting Ending

Work Performed

Reason for Leaving

[ DO NOT CONTACT REASON
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Enployer (

Immediate Supervisor (

Job Title

Address

Phone Number

Dates Employed
From To

Hourly Rate/Salary
Starting

Ending

Work Performed

Reason for Leaving

0 DO NOT CONTACT REASON

Employer

Immediate Supervisor

Job Title

Address

Phone Numbef'

Dates Employed
From To

Hourly Rate/Salary
Starting

Ending

Work Performed

Reason for Leaving

O DO NOT CONTACT REASON

WORK EXPERIENCE ~ Continued

Employer

Immediate Supervisor

Job Title

Address

Phone Number

Dates Employed
To From

Hourly Rate/Salary
Starting

Ending

Work Performed

Reason for Leaving

0 DO NOT CONTACT REASON
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OTHER {

= Have you had prior educational experience, which relates to the job for which you are applying?

M Yes [INo
If yes, describe A$5 06”“1( 0\5’9{69 : L CV{"J\QN;I d(lfgv

u  Please list reason for any lapse in youwr employment history

v Have you ever been discharged from a previous employer? O Yes ,ﬁ No
1 Ifyes, please explain

¥ Can you work overtime, if required? ,B(Yes I No

Can you work nights, weekends or holidays, if required? ﬁ Yes 0 No
» Will yoﬁ be engaged in any other employment or school while working herve? [ Yes /qf No
= Do you have any friends or relatives who work for the company? [ Yes %N o

Name
Relationship
u Do you have any friends or relatives who work within any of our facilities? Il Yes % No

Name
Relationship
= Have you filed an application here before? [ Yes % No

If yes, give date
" Have you ever been employed here before? [ Yes ﬁ No

If yes, did you leave the company in good standing and with appropriate notlce?

TWO PRO FESSIONAL REFERENCES

List 2 individuals that are not relatives or personal friends, preferably a previous supervisor or HR
Department

SUPERVISOR NAME PHONE NUMBER COMPANY
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HIRING MANAGER / HR 0(\. .CE USE ONLY

5 L dedeen

S dves Dierer

REFERENCE #1

Exceeded
Standards

Met
Standards

Below
Standards

Counseling
Required

Comments

Met Performance
Standards

€00 overe.

Maintalned
Confidentiallty

PL O~ elodpa

Worked well with
Co-Workers

Caooel ool

Worked well with
Supervisors

Followead Polictes and
Procedures

Met Attendance
Standards

Appropriate Dress Code

SIAAAA A

Eligible for
Re-Hire

o

If No, why?

Rucn Oeliviie

REFERENCE #2

Exceeded
Standards

pet
Standards

Below
Standards

Counseling
Required

" Comments

Met Performance
Standards

[0 éu/m J'OY\"‘-/Q

Maintalned
Confidentiality

\/% Crovel Conle

Worked well with
Co-Workers

Worked well with
Supervisors

Followed Company
Pdlicies

Met Attendance

| Standards

Appropriate Dress Code

NARATATALAN

Eligible for
Re-Hire

( Yes’)

No

If No, why?

Additional Information:

If we are not able to verify your references, we reserve the right not to offer you employment.
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I understand that the Facility is committed to providing equal opportunity in all employment practices,
including but not limited to, selection, hiring, promotion, transfer and compensation to all qualified -

applicants and employees without regard to age, race, color, natlonal orlgin, sex, religion, handicap or
disability, or any other protected status by federal, state or local law.

I certify that the answers given herein are true and complete to the best of my knowledge. I authorize
former and present employers and schools, work and personal references listed In the application, and
any other individuals I may name, to give the Facility or its designee any and all information concerning
my previous employment, education background, and any pertinent information they may have, I release
such parties from all liability for damages that may result from furnishing same to Facllity. I also
authorize the Facility to provide truthful information concerning my employment with it to future
employers and’ 1 agree to hold It harmless for providing such information. I understand that
misrepresentations, omissions of facts or incomplete information requested In this application may result
in the Facllity refusing to consider me for employment. In addition, if employed, any misrepresentations
or omissions of facts called for in this application may resuit in termination of employment.

I understand that this employment application and any other Facility documents are not constructed as a
contract of employment. I further understand that if I am employed, I can terminate my employment at
any time with or without cause and with or without advance notice, and that the Facility has a similar
right. I understand that no manager, representative, or agent of the Facility has any authority to enter
into any agreement for employment for any specified period of time, or to make any agreement contrary
to the foregoing without agreement being signed by an Officer of the Facility.

NOTIFICATION TO AN INDIVIDUAL THAT A CONSUMER REPORT MAY BE OBTAINED

In compliance with the Amended Fair Credit Reporting Act and applicable state law, this notice is to
inform you that a consumer report may be obtained in connection with your application for employment
or your current employment. A “consumer report” is any written, oral or other communication of any
information by a consumer reporting agency bearing on a consumer’s credit worthiness, credit standing,
credit capacity, character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living which-is used or
expected to be used or collection in whole or in part for the purpose of serving as a factor in establishing
the consumer’s ellgibility. “Consumer Report” is any information obtained from a “consumer reporting
agency” and may include, but is not limited to the following: Criminal history records, drug screening
tests, driving records, school attendance records, school transcripts, military service records, credit
records, records of former addresses, and any other public information or consumer reports.

—1 ,
Applicant SignatureMk_thi pate 3 =7 ~ 20/J

Revised 03/01/2013

EOE/AA - DRUG FREE WORKPLACE
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